IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Case No. 24-183

SCA EFiled: Jul 01 2024
03:40PM EDT
Transaction ID 73527754

WESTLAKE CHLOR-VINYLS CORPORATION, formerly known as AXIALL CORPORATION, and WESTLAKE NATRIUM LLC, formerly known as EAGLE NATRIUM, LLC,
Petitioners,

v.

IPI, INC., and MATTHEW JOSEPH TAYLOR,
Respondents.

**BRIEF OF PETITIONERS WESTLAKE CHLOR-VINYLS CORPORATION
AND WESTLAKE NATRIUM LLC**

William D. Wilmoth (WV Bar #4075)
Steptoe & Johnson PLLC
1233 Main Street, Suite 3000
P.O. Box 751
Wheeling, WV 26003
(304) 231-0456
william.wilmoth@steptoe-johnson.com

John R. Callcott (WV Bar #9206)
Steptoe & Johnson PLLC
P.O. Box 1616
Morgantown, WV 26507
(304) 598-8151

I. INTRODUCTION

Petitioners Westlake Chlor-Vinyls Corporation, f/k/a Axiall Corporation (“Westlake Chlor-Vinyls”), and Westlake Natrium LLC, f/k/a Eagle Natrium LLC (“Westlake Natrium”) (collectively, “Westlake”) submit this brief in support of their appeal from a final decision of the Intermediate Court of Appeals (“ICA”) affirming in part, vacating in part and remanding the Circuit Court’s order granting Westlake’s motion for partial summary judgment on counterclaims for breach of contract and express indemnification against Respondent IPI, Inc. (“IPI”) for claims brought by IPI and Respondent Matthew Joseph Taylor arising out of a release of 178,400 pounds of chlorine caused by a crack in railcar AXL 1702 (“1702”) at Westlake’s facility in Natrium, West Virginia (the “Natrium Plant”) on Saturday, August 27, 2016 (the “Railcar Release”). The ICA erred in holding that the Agreement for On-Site Services (“AOS”) exclusively controls IPI’s duty to indemnify Westlake. The ICA further erred in holding that the Circuit Court did not adequately explain its decision concerning the nexus required for indemnification. Finally, the ICA erred in holding that if the Circuit Court determines that there is a sufficient nexus, it will need to determine whether there are genuine issues of material fact concerning sole negligence, willful misconduct, or possibly gross negligence.

The Circuit Court correctly held the AOS and terms and conditions (“T&Cs”) construed as a whole require indemnification for any and all claims, liability, damage, loss, penalties, fines, cost, and expense of any kind whatsoever, sustained in connection with performance of services under Purchase Order (“PO”) 45100044817 arising from any cause whatsoever, except in the case of Westlake’s sole negligence or willful misconduct, which is not present here. Therefore, the Court should reverse the ICA’s opinion insofar as it vacated and remanded the Circuit Court’s order and instruct the ICA to affirm partial summary judgment for Westlake in all respects.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The ICA erred in vacating in part and remanding the Circuit Court's grant of partial summary judgment to Westlake on the counterclaims for breach of contract and express indemnity.

A. The ICA erred in holding that the AOS exclusively controls IPI's duty to indemnify Westlake because the AOS, PO 45100044817, and T&Cs are incorporated into one agreement that must be construed as a whole to avoid inconsistencies and conflicts and because the priorities and orders clause in the AOS requires that terms and conditions be prioritized and ordered without annulling the remaining terms and conditions of the T&Cs.

B. The ICA erred in holding that the Circuit Court did not adequately explain its decision concerning the nexus required for indemnification because, not only did the Circuit Court explain its decision, the plain language of the indemnity clause in the AOS applies to Respondents' claims and costs and expenses of any kind whatsoever for personal injuries or property damages involving Respondents sustained in connection with IPI's performance of the services arising from any cause whatsoever and the plain language of the indemnity clause in the T&Cs applies to the claims and expenses including reasonable attorneys' fees for personal injuries or property damages arising or allegedly arising from or related to the subject matter of PO 45100044817.

C. The ICA erred in holding that if the Circuit Court determines that there is a sufficient nexus between IPI's activities and the resulting injuries to trigger a duty to indemnify, it will need to determine whether there are genuine issues of material fact regarding sole negligence, willful misconduct, or possibly gross negligence because IPI has neither pleaded as an affirmative defense to the counterclaims nor submitted any evidence of Westlake's sole negligence or willful misconduct and a Pennsylvania jury has found that Westlake's negligence was less than fifty percent of the cause of the Railcar Release in a verdict that has been upheld on appeal.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Statement of Facts

The Natrium Plant has been in operation since the 1940s making chlorine and other products and providing work for hundreds of employees and many contractors in the tri-state region. IPI is a contractor that provided services at the Natrium Plant for many years beginning in 2007. IPI performed maintenance tasks on-site, including painting the outside of large tanks and applying special coatings on their interiors. IPI claims it collected more than \$1,500,000.00 annual revenue for work performed at the Natrium Plant. J.A. 68.

Three documents form the contract that bound IPI when it worked at the Natrium Plant. The first is the AOS, which is the predicate contract that vendors must have in place before being awarded a PO. J.A. 281–91. The second is the PO that is incorporated into the AOS, which defines the scope of any given project. J.A. 281, 369–70. The third is the T&Cs that are incorporated into each PO. J.A. 308–13. The AOS provides that if there are any terms or conditions that are inconsistent or in conflict with the AOS, the terms and conditions of the documents shall control in the following priority and order: the front of the PO, the AOS, then the T&Cs. J.A. 281.¹

The AOS, which was signed by Mr. Taylor as IPI’s president, was executed when PPG Industries, Inc. (“PPG”) owned and operated the Natrium Plant in 2007. JA. 291. The AOS contains a standard indemnification clause in section 4, including:

Contractor assumes the risk of all damages, losses, costs and expenses, and agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless Buyer, their directors, officers, agents, and employees from and against any and all claims, liability, damage, loss, penalties, fines, cost and expense of any kind whatsoever which may accrue to or be sustained by any Buyer, their directors, officers, agents or employees, arising out of this Agreement and/or the Services, including, without limitation, for the death of or injury to persons or destruction of property involving Contractor, its employees, agents and representatives, sustained in connection with performance of the

¹ An integration clause in the AOS confirms that the parties’ agreement consists of the AOS, POs, and T&Cs. See J.A. at 290.

Services, arising from any cause whatsoever (including without limitation, injuries resulting from failure of or defect in any equipment, instrument or device supplied by Buyer or their employees to Contractor, its employees, agents or representatives at the request of Contractor, its employees, agents or representatives), except to the extent arising out of the sole negligence or willful misconduct of the Buyer or its employees acting within the scope of their employment. The indemnification obligation of this Section 4 shall be deemed modified as required to exclude that degree of indemnification required aforesaid which is expressly prohibited by applicable law, statute or regulation, if any; but to the extent the aforesaid indemnification obligation is valid and enforceable, it shall remain in effect though modified. The indemnity obligations of Contractor hereunder shall survive the termination or expiration of this Agreement and of any applicable Accepted Order.

J.A. 282.

On the same page, in the next section 5 the AOS further contains a standard clause requiring contractors to maintain insurance, which reads in relevant part:

Contractor, at its own expense, shall effect and maintain, and at all times keep current, insurance in the amounts and types hereinafter set forth during the progress of any of the Services with insurance companies approved by PPG and shall submit certificates to PPG, evidencing such. A complying insurance certificate must be provided to PPG within ten (10) days of the Effective Date and prior to any Service being performed, and complying certificates for renewals prior to the expiration date of the then insurances; **Contractor acknowledges and agrees that the aforesaid obligation to provide complying certificates to PPG is a material precondition to Contractor's receipt of any payment from PPG or the applicable Buyer for the Services. . . .** Contractor shall not be relieved of any liability that falls within applicable deductibles, it being specifically understood that Contractor shall be solely responsible to pay all claims wholly or partly falling within any deductible and shall hold harmless and indemnify Buyer therefrom.

J.A. 282.

The insurance clause specifically requires workers' compensation or workplace safety insurance, and other applicable social insurance, employer's liability insurance, comprehensive (commercial) general liability insurance ("CGL") for bodily injury and property damage, automobile liability insurance. The insurance clause further provides among other things that the certificates of insurance evidencing the insurance coverages shall stipulate that any applicable

Buyer shall be named as an additional insured under the insurance. J.A. 282–83. Finally, the insurance clause provides:

It is understood neither PPG nor any other Buyer in any way represents that the types or the limits of insurance, hereinabove specified, are sufficient or adequate to protect Contractor's interests or liabilities. Contractor agrees to, and hereby does, waive subrogation against Buyer under all such insurance, and all policies of insurance which Contractor must furnish shall contain an endorsement whereby the carrier waves any and all rights of subrogation against buyer.

J.A. 283.

In 2012 and 2013, the Natrium Plant was transferred to Eagle Natrium, an entity indirectly owned by Axiall. IPI executed a consent transferring the AOS to Eagle Natrium, understood that the AOS was being transferred to Eagle Natrium, and was aware that it had to transfer the AOS to Eagle Natrium in order to keep working at the Natrium Plant. J.A. 303–04.²

In August 2016, Eagle Natrium and IPI entered PO 4510044817. The front page of PO 4510044817 states: “Contractor must have on file with Purchasing Department: One (1) copy of certificate of insurance showing carrier, type of coverage, limits of coverage and Axiall LLC as an additional named insured, one (1) copy of Workman’s Comp Certificate, Natrium Intoxicant Screening letter (if applicable) and current West Virginia Contractor’s License or letter stating that they are exempt from the contractor’s license requirement. J.A. 369. The back page of PO 4510044817 states in bold capital letters: **“THIS PURCHASE ORDER IS SUBJECT TO, INCLUDES AND INCORPORATES HEREIN BY REFERENCE THE UNITED STATES PURCHASE ORDER GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR Eagle Natrium LLC LOCATED AT [HTTP://WWW.AXIALL.COM/COMPANY](http://www.axiall.com/company).”** J.A. 370.³

² The AOS contains a clause in section 14 indicating that with such consent the AOS and all POs shall bind and inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of the respective parties. J.A. 290. Accordingly, the term “Buyer” includes successors such as Eagle Natrium, LLC (“Eagle Natrium”) and Axiall Corporation (“Axiall”) and now Westlake.

³ Although PO 4510044817 was not signed by a representative of IPI, the ICA correctly held that it was accepted as a contract nonetheless because the T&Cs stated that a PO could be accepted by failing to object in writing to its terms within ten days or by performing under the PO. In addition, the ICA noted a long history of the parties using POs that

The T&Cs in effect at the time of the Railcar Release also contain an indemnification clause in section 13 that states as follows:

Seller assumes the risk of all damage, loss, costs and expense, and agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless Buyer, its officers, employees and representatives, from and against any and all damages, claims, demands, expenses (including reasonable attorneys' fees), losses or liabilities of any nature whatsoever, and whether involving injury or damage to any person (including employees of Seller and Buyer) or property, and any and all suits, causes of action and proceedings thereon arising or allegedly arising from or related to the subject matter of this Purchase Order, except where such injury or damage was caused by the sole negligence of Buyer. This indemnity shall survive the termination or cancellation of this Purchase Order, or any part hereof.

J.A. 310.

On the same page in the next section 14 the T&Cs likewise contain an insurance clause that reads:

For work or services done for Buyer on premises designated by Buyer, Seller shall furnish Buyer, prior to commencement of the work or services, certificates of insurance showing that Seller has Worker's Compensation, Employer's Liability, and Comprehensive General Liability (including automobiles) coverages in the minimum amounts and form as may be specified by Buyer, which coverages shall not be allowed to change or expire until all services or work have been completed and accepted.

J.A. at 310.

The Railcar Release occurred on August 27, 2016. At that time, 1702 experienced a crack that caused the release of 178,400 pounds of chlorine. 1702 had just been returned to service, and the release occurred after it was loaded for the first time and placed in a holding area. The car had just been inspected by AllTranstek, LLC ("AllTranstek"), a third party that provided railcar maintenance services. Recommended repair work had been performed at a shopping facility

incorporated the T&Cs by reference. J.A. 10 (citing *Westinghouse Elec. Co. v. Murphy, Inc.*, 228 A.2d 656 (Pa. 1967)). See *Axiall Corp. v. AllTranstek LLC*, No. 966 WDA 2022, 2024 WL 2811827, at *8–9 (Pa. Super. June 3, 2024) (holding that contractor's actions in performing under purchase orders established acceptance of Axiall's offers, thereby forming contracts).

operated by Rescar, Inc. (“Rescar”), a company owned by AllTranstek. During the shopping process, another third party, Superheat GFH Services, Inc. (“Superheat”), performed specialized post weld heat treatments. The failures of AllTranstek, Rescar and/or Superheat contributed to the rupturing of 1702. J.A. 349–51. The release resulted in a cloud of chlorine that moved south through the Natrium Plant. J.A. 505–06.

At the time of the Railcar release on August 27, 2016, Mr. Taylor and his crew were painting Tank 24 at the Natrium Plant pursuant to PO 45100044817. J.A. 319. The Natrium Plant has designated emergency gates that are always unlocked, which are identified on evacuation route maps located throughout the facility. Had Mr. Taylor gone to any of these, he would have been able to exit the facility simply by using a push-bar. Instead, Mr. Taylor proceeded with his men to a “freight gate,” which was opened when an IPI employee called the guard house. J.A. 508–09. While Mr. Taylor had an escape respirator, which is required safety equipment for all contractors, he states he was exposed to chlorine and went to the Natrium Plant’s infirmary. J.A. 506, 509. He was transported to a local emergency department and then to Ruby Memorial in Morgantown. Mr. Taylor was evaluated and released the same day from the Ruby Memorial Emergency Department, travelling back to the Natrium Plant that evening to get some personal items. J.A. 320. Mr. Taylor returned to work the following Monday, the release being the previous Saturday, and worked a 12.5 hour day. J.A. 327. Mr. Taylor has admitted that he does not know who is responsible for the Railcar Release. J.A. 322.

As a matter of public record, a Pennsylvania jury has found that Westlake’s negligence was 40%, Rescar’s negligence was 40%, and AllTranstek’s negligence was 20% of the cause of the Railcar Release in a verdict that has been upheld on appeal, *See Axiall Corp. v. AllTranstek LLC*, No. 966 WDA 2022, 2024 WL 2811827 (Pa. Super. June 3, 2024).

B. Procedural History

On January 29, 2018, IPI and Mr. Taylor filed a complaint against Axiall, Eagle Natrium, Westlake Chemical Corporation (“Westlake Chemical”), and Charles Zeigler in the Circuit Court of Marshall County. The complaint contains several claims for personal injury and property damage related to two chlorine gas releases, the larger of which is the Railcar Release.⁴ A.R. 62–91. Axiall and Eagle Natrium pleaded counterclaims against IPI for breach of contract and express indemnification based on the AOS, PO 4510044817, and T&Cs. J.A. 186–245.

On May 23, 2022, Axiall, Eagle Natrium, Westlake, and Mr. Zeigler filed a motion for partial summary judgment on the claims in the complaint. Axiall and Eagle Natrium also filed a motion for partial summary judgment on their counterclaims for breach of contract and express indemnification related to the Railcar Release. J.A. 262–417.

On September 8, 2022, the Circuit Court entered an Order Granting in Part and Denying in Part Defendants’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on the claims in the complaint. Among other things, the Circuit Court granted summary judgment in favor of Westlake Chemical and Mr. Zeigler and dismissed all claims against them with prejudice. The Circuit Court also granted summary judgment in favor of Westlake on several claims but denied summary judgment on claims for premises liability, property damage, and personal injury to Mr. Taylor. The Circuit Court noted that nothing in its September 8 Order should be construed to alter, amend, or determine the interpretation of the separate order Granting Counter-Plaintiffs’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment Regarding Indemnification Related to the Railcar Release. *See* J.A. 60.

On September 12, 2022, the Circuit Court entered an Order Granting Counter-Plaintiffs’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment Regarding Indemnification Related to the Railcar Release.

⁴ A subsequent smaller scrubber release (the “Scrubber Release”) is not at issue on appeal.

Specifically, the Circuit Court entered judgment in favor of Westlake on the breach of contract and express indemnification counterclaims related to the Railcar Release. The Circuit Court found no just reason for delay and further that its order constitutes a final judgment as to the validity, appealability, and breach of IPI's contract and indemnity obligations in the AOS, PO, and T&Cs as they relate to the Railcar Release and that the Order is immediately appealable. J.A. 770.

IPI appealed to the ICA. *See* J.A. 1. Following briefing and oral argument the ICA issued a signed opinion on January 30, 2024. The ICA affirmed the Circuit Court insofar as it determined that IPI is subject to binding and enforceable indemnity agreements, that such agreements are governed by Pennsylvania law, and that the indemnity language of the AOS is sufficiently clear and unequivocal to permit indemnification for at least some degree of negligence. The ICA, however, vacated and remanded the case for the Circuit Court to reconsider and develop its ruling on the scope of the applicable indemnity provision, in particular the nexus required for indemnification and its application to the facts of this case. The ICA instructed that if the Circuit Court decides on remand that there is a sufficient nexus between the work being performed by IPI and the injuries and losses that resulted from the Railcar Release to apply the indemnification clause, then the Circuit Court must further address whether there are genuine issues of material fact pertaining to sole negligence, gross negligence, or willful misconduct. In that regard, the Circuit Court was instructed to consider the ability to authenticate documents without affidavits, the effect, if any, of West Virginia's comparative fault statute, and the burden of proof. Finally, the ICA instructed that it may also be necessary to rule on the admissibility of the NTSB accident report under 49 U.S.C. § 1154(b) (2018) and 49 C.F.R. § 835.2 (1999). J.A. 54.

The ICA issued its mandate thereafter on March 1, 2024. *See* J.A. 2. This appeal timely followed on March 29, 2024.

IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The ICA erred in holding that the AOS exclusively controls IPI's duty to indemnify Westlake. The AOS, PO 45100044817, and T&Cs are incorporated into one agreement that must be construed as a whole to avoid inconsistencies and conflicts wherever possible such as here. In addition, the priorities and orders clause in the AOS requires that terms and conditions be prioritized and ordered without annulling the remaining terms and conditions as the ICA did.

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