IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Case No. 24-183

SCA EFiled: Aug 15 2024
11:42AM EDT
Transaction ID 74057485

WESTLAKE CHLOR-VINYLS CORPORATION, formerly
known as AXIALL CORPORATION, and WESTLAKE
NATRIUM LLC, formerly known as EAGLE NATRIUM, LLC,

Petitioners,

v.

IPI, INC., and MATTHEW JOSEPH TAYLOR,

Respondents.

Appeal from an Opinion of the
Intermediate Court of Appeals of
West Virginia (No. 22-ICA-164)
affirming in part, vacating in part,
and remanding a final order of the
Circuit Court of Marshall County
(Civil Action No. 18-C-14)

	BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS IPI, INC. AND MATTHEW JOSEPH TAYLOR	

**Counsel for Respondents, IPI, Inc.
and Matthew Joseph Taylor,**

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

I. The ICA’s decision to affirm in part, vacate in part, and remand the circuit court’s deficient order is not reviewable on appeal because further judicial action in the circuit court in conformity with the ICA’s Opinion is required.

Respondents have moved this Court to dismiss Petitioners’ appeal pursuant to Rule 31 of the *West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure*. Respondents hereby incorporate the arguments made in their motion to dismiss herein, and respectfully request this Court to dismiss Petitioners’ appeal because this Court lacks jurisdiction under W. VA. CODE § 58-5-1 insofar as the ICA’s Opinion is not a final order or judgment. Therefore, for the reasons set forth in Respondents’ Motion to Dismiss Appeal, this Court should dismiss Petitioners’ appeal and remand this case to the circuit court to complete the tasks directed to it by the ICA.

II. The ICA correctly held that the AOS governs IPI’s duty to indemnify Petitioners because the indemnity provisions in the AOS and the T&C’s conflict and the plain language of the AOS mandates prioritization of the AOS’s indemnity provision.

In the proceedings below, the circuit court summarily concluded that “[p]ursuant to the terms of the independently enforceable indemnification provisions in the AOS and the Terms and Conditions, IPI must indemnify, defend, and hold harmless [Petitioners] from all claims by [IPI and Mr. Taylor related to the [First Chlorine Gas Leak].” JA 768–769. This finding—that IPI’s and Mr. Taylor’s obligation to indemnify Petitioners arises from **both** the AOS and the T&C’s—contravened the explicit order of priority governing conflicting terms and conditions as set forth in the AOS. The ICA recognized this, and properly held that the AOS’s indemnity clause exclusively governed and defined IPI’s duty to indemnify Petitioners.

While “[i]t is axiomatic in contract law that two provisions of a contract should be read so as not to be in conflict with each other if it is reasonably possible,” *Keystone Fabric Laminates, Inc. v. Fed. Ins. Co.*, 407 F.2d 1353, 1356 (3d Cir. 1969), “[t]he fundamental rule in interpreting the meaning of a contract is to ascertain and give effect to the intent of the contracting parties.” *Mitch v. XTO Energy, Inc.*, 212 A.3d 1135, 1138–139 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2019). This purpose is achieved by taking the “whole instrument” together to arrive at contractual intent. *Maisano v. Avery*, 204 A.3d 515, 520 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2019). Effect must be given to all of the provisions in a contract, and “[a]n interpretation will not be given to one part of the contract which will annul another part of it.” *Porter v. Chevron Appalachia, LLC*, 204 A.3d 411, 418–19 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2019).

By finding that IPI’s purported indemnification obligation arose from both the AOS and the T&C’s, the circuit court erroneously construed the AOS in a manner that rendered its conflict provision meaningless. As explained above, to the extent a conflict exists between the terms and

conditions of the AOS and the T&C's of any purchase order, the AOS explicitly provides the following priority and order with respect to their governance and applicability: (1) "the front of the [purchase order];" (2) the AOS; and (3) "then the reverse side terms and conditions of the [purchase order]." JA 576. The Purchase Order incorporates by reference the T&C's on its **reverse side**. JA 553–554. Thus, under the express, agreed-upon AOS, any portion of the T&C's that conflict with the AOS are preempted and inapplicable.

Here, the indemnity clauses of the AOS and the T&C's materially and irreconcilably conflict "in various respects," as the ICA put it. For example, as the ICA observed, the AOS contains language obligating IPI to indemnify Petitioners from "any and all claims, liability, damage, loss, penalties, fines, cost and expenses of any kind whatsoever." JA 577. Contrastingly, the T&C's include an additional term ("demands") and an illustrative parenthetical after the term "expenses" indicating that attorney fees are included. As the ICA discerned, the AOS does not expressly refer to attorney fees. JA 310.

The ICA also observed that the AOS refers to claims "arising out of this Agreement and/or the Services . . .," JA 577, while the T&C's refer to claims "arising or **allegedly** arising from or **related to** the subject matter of this Purchase Order. . . ." JA 310. The ICA correctly determined that the phrase "related to" was not superfluous, and noted that the scope of the indemnity obligation under the T&C's was arguably broader than the scope of the indemnity obligation under the AOS. JA 20. This presents a clear conflict.

The ICA also observed that the AOS contained language referring to injury, death, or property damage involving IPI and its employees "sustained in connection with performance of the Services," JA 577, and that the T&C's indemnity obligation did not contain similar "sustained in" language. JA 310.

The ICA also noted that the AOS's indemnity provision contained language "arising from any cause whatsoever (including without limitation, injuries resulting from failure of or defect in any equipment, instrument or device supplied by [Petitioners] or their employees to [IPI], its employees, agents or representatives at the request of [IPI], its employees, agents or representatives). . .," JA 577, and that the T&C's indemnity clause did not include any language of the sort and did not refer to defects or failures in equipment, instruments or devices supplied by Petitioners. JA 310.

Finally, the ICA correctly identified that the AOS included exclusionary language that IPI's duty to indemnify would not apply if Petitioners engaged in "willful misconduct," JA 577, but the T&C's indemnity clause did not include this exclusionary language regarding willful misconduct. JA 310. Simply put, the provisions conflict.

In light of these several inconsistencies, the ICA appropriately concluded that the AOS and T&C's are inconsistent and conflicting. JA 21–22. Following the explicit priority established by the AOS, the ICA correctly reasoned that the AOS's indemnity clause controls the issue. JA 21.

Petitioners argue that "the ICA completely ignored Pennsylvania contract law principals" and, in essence, annulled the T&C's in their entirety. Pets.' Brief at 12–17. In reality, what the ICA did is follow the parties' express contract. Petitioners want this Court to ignore this critical and binding requirement in the AOS, which was drafted by Petitioners' predecessor in interest. They argue that the ICA "identified a handful of truncated differences in wording between the AOS and the T&C's and erroneously found them to be inconsistencies and conflicts without any attempt to construe the agreement as a whole to avoid ambiguities and inconsistencies and conflicts." Pets.' Brief at 15.

But, under Pennsylvania law, courts “should give meaning to all its words and phrases and adopt a construction that avoids surplusage.” *Rite Aid Corp. v. Liberty Mut. Fire Ins. Co.*, 414 F. Supp. 2d 508, 515 (M.D. Pa. 2005) (citing *Tenos v. State Farm Ins. Co.*, 716 A.2d 626, 631 (Pa. Super. 1998)). Petitioners suggest that this Court treat the AOS, the Purchase Order, and the T&C’s as one, singular contract between the parties. It is; but some provisions have priority under the terms of the contract.

There are two different indemnity provisions at issue here. One of them (the T&C’s) refers to attorneys fees. JA 589. The other (the AOS) does not. J.A. 577. This presents a conflict. One of the indemnity provisions (the T&C’s) refers to “demands.” JA 589. The other (the AOS) does not. JA 577. This presents a conflict. One of the indemnity provisions (the AOS) refers to claims “arising out of [the AOS] and/or the Services,” JA 577, while the other (the T&C’s) refers to claims “arising or allegedly arising from or related to the subject matter of this Purchase Order. . . .” JA 589. Clearly, Petitioners did not intend the phrase “related to” to mean “arising from” or “arising out of.” Otherwise, the phrase “related to” would be superfluous and meaningless. This presents a conflict. One of the indemnity provisions (the AOS) refers to injury, death, or property damage involving Respondents “sustained in connection with the performance of the Services. . . .” JA 577. The other (the T&C’s) does not contain language similar to the “sustained in” language set forth in the AOS. JA 589. This presents a conflict. One of the indemnity provisions (the AOS) requires indemnity for “injuries resulting from failure of or defect in any equipment, instrument, or device supplied by [Petitioners] or their employees to [IPI], its employees, agents or representatives at the request of [IPI], its employees, agents or representatives.” JA 577. The other (the T&C’s) does not require indemnity for such injuries. JA 589. This presents a conflict.

The indemnity provisions in the AOS and the T&C's cannot be reconciled. Notwithstanding these irreconcilable conflicts, the circuit court failed to identify which of the two indemnification provisions governed Respondents' claims and, instead, applied both of them. This flies in the face of the express language of the AOS, which sets forth the priority and applicability of conflicting terms and conditions between the AOS and any purchase orders. This Court should affirm the ICA's conclusion that the AOS exclusively governs the indemnity issue.⁶

III. The ICA correctly determined that the circuit court's order inadequately explained its decision that Respondents' injuries and claims fell within the scope of the indemnity provisions.

As explained above, the relevant language of the AOS's indemnity provision requires IPI to indemnify and hold harmless Petitioners from claims

arising out of [the AOS] and/or the Services, including, without limitation, for the death of or injury to persons or destruction of property involving [Respondents] . . . ***sustained in connection with performance of the Services***, arising from any cause whatsoever (including without limitation, injuries resulting from failure of or defect in any equipment, instrument or device ***supplied by [Petitioners]*** . . . ***to [Respondents]*** . . . ***at the request of [Respondents]*** . . .) except to the extent arising out of the sole negligence or willful misconduct of the [Petitioners]. . . .

JA 577. Similarly, the T&C's, which are incorporated by reference into all of its purchase orders, requires indemnification only from claims "arising or allegedly arising from or related to the subject matter of" the particular purchase order. JA 310.

Without explanation, and without reference to any Pennsylvania interpretive canons applicable to these sorts of indemnity provisions, the circuit court summarily concluded that Respondents' damages "arose out of the services being performed or otherwise being provided by

⁶ Although Respondents maintain that the AOS is the exclusive source of any potential indemnity obligation on their part, for purposes of their remaining arguments, Respondents assume that either indemnification provision could govern. Respondents do not waive or concede in any manner that the indemnification provision set forth in T&C's and incorporated by reference into the Purchase Order govern their claims below.

IPI and Mr. Taylor pursuant to [Purchase Order] 4510044817, the incorporated Terms and Conditions and the AOS.” JA 768. On appeal, the ICA carefully scrutinized the circuit court’s deficient order and directed it to binding tenets of Pennsylvania law that, if followed, would have guided it to a different conclusion. The ICA correctly recognized that the circuit court provided *no basis* for its ruling based on Pennsylvania law. This Court should affirm the ICA’s Opinion.

As the ICA astutely noted, “*it is difficult . . . to imagine that IPI intended to be an insurer for claims arising from causes completely unrelated to the work it was hired to perform, and over which it had no control.*” JA 30–31 (emphasis added). After all, under Pennsylvania law, the primary purpose of contract interpretation is to give effect to the intention of the parties, *see Ratti v. Wheeling Pittsburgh Steel Corp.*, 758 A.2d 695, 702 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2000), and, in reviewing indemnity agreements, the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania has frequently observed that it will not assume that parties have agreed to act as insurers and expose themselves to potentially devastating liability unrelated to their own actions. *See Perry v. Payne*, 66 A. 553, 555 (Pa. 1907); *Pittsburgh Steel Co. v. Patterson-Emerson-Comstock, Inc.*, 171 A.2d 185, 189 (Pa. 1961).

Indeed, it is well-settled under Pennsylvania law that “if parties intend to include within the scope of their indemnity agreement a provision that covers losses due to the indemnitee’s own negligence, they must do so in *clear and unequivocal language.*” *Ruzzi v. Butler Petro. Co.*, 588 A.2d 1, 4 (Pa. 1991) (emphasis added); *see also Bernotas v. Super Fresh Food Markets, Inc.*, 863 A.2d 478, 483 (Pa. 2004); *Greer v. City of Philadelphia*, 795 A.2d 376, 378 (Pa. 2002); *Perry v. Payne*, 66 A. 553, 557 (Pa. 1907). This is so because “assuming liability for the negligence of an indemnified party “is so hazardous, and the character of the indemnity so unusual and extraordinary, that there can be no presumption that the indemnitor intended to assume the responsibility unless the contract puts it beyond doubt by express stipulation.”” *Greer*, 795 A.2d

at 378 (quoting *Ruzzi*, 588 A.2d at 4). As the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania wisely stated in *Perry*, it would be “contrary to experience and against reason” for a contractor to agree to indemnify another for the other’s negligence, when such indemnification would subject it to “uncertain and indefinite” liability. *Perry*, 66 A. at 555.

Also, Pennsylvania law mandates that indemnity agreements be strictly construed against the indemnitee (in this case, Petitioners) and ambiguities be resolved against the drafter (again, in this case, Petitioners), especially where the drafter is also the indemnitee. *Jacobs Constructors, Inc. v. NPS Energy Servs., Inc.*, 264 F.3d 365, 371 (3d Cir. 2001) (applying Pennsylvania law); *El v. Southeastern Penn. Trans. Auth.*, 297 F. Supp. 2d 758, 762 (E.D. Pa. 2003) (“Pennsylvania law has long acknowledged that indemnity clauses are construed most strictly against the party who drafts them especially when that party is the indemnitee.”); *Bernotas*, 863 A.2d at 482 (“It is well settled in Pennsylvania that provisions to indemnify for another party’s negligence are to be narrowly construed. . . .”); *Ruzzi*, 588 A.2d at 7; *Ratti*, 758 A.2d at 703 (noting that Pennsylvania law “requires [courts] to strictly construe such [an] agreement against its drafter”).

In footnote 15 of its Opinion, the ICA wisely noted “that in jurisdictions where indemnity clauses are narrowly construed against the indemnitee, such as Pennsylvania, courts frequently require some causal connection between the indemnitor’s activities and the resulting injuries.” JA 30 (citing Marc M. Schneier, Contractual Indemnity, Chapter 8.C, *Construction Accident Law* (ABA 1999)). While this principle has not yet been explicitly adopted by Pennsylvania courts, the Pennsylvania Supreme Court has implicitly offered its guidance on this issue, indicating that indemnification language of this sort would not be as broadly construed as Petitioners suggest. *See Pittsburgh Steel Co.*, 171 A.2d at 189.

In *Pittsburgh Steel Co.*, the Pennsylvania Supreme Court considered whether an electrical contractor was required to indemnify a steel mill for injuries sustained by its subcontractor's employee resulting from the negligent operation of a crane by an employee of the steel mill. *Id.* at 186–87. The subcontractor's employee brought suit against the steel mill for his injuries. *Id.* at 187. After the steel mill obtained a settlement with the subcontractor's employee, the steel mill brought an action against the electrical contractor for express indemnity pursuant to their service contract. *Id.* The service contract contained an indemnification provision stating, in pertinent part, that the contractor “will indemnify, save harmless and defend [the steel mill] from all liability for loss, damage, or injury to person or property in any manner arising out of or incident to performance of this [service contract]. . . .” *Id.* at 186.

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